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This matter is before the Court on Defendant’s Motion to
Dismiss Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b) (1) or in
the alternative, Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b) (6).! The
motion is opposed. For the reasons which follow, the Defendant’s

Motion to Dismiss? is GRANTED.

I. Factual Background

The plaintiff Casino City, Inc. (“Casino City”) 1is a United
States company that maintains a website which derives revenue from
running advertisements of overseas companies which offer online
casino or sportsbook gambling.? Casino City argues that the

“overseas companies” are “lawful.” However, it does not allege

lRec. Doc. No. 9.
2Rec. Doc. No. 9.

3Rec. Doc. No. 9.
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that it is legal for these businesses to accept wagers from United
States bettors.*

Casino City filed this action challenging the application of
the prohibition against aiding and abetting the commission of a
federal offense to those who run advertisements for Internet and
offshore gambling operations that take bets from bettors located in
the United States.

On June 11, 2003, the Deputy Assistant Attorney General for
the Criminal Division of the Department of Justice (“DOJ”) sent a
letter to the National Association of Broadcasters (“"NAB”). It is
important to note that this letter was not sent to Casino City.
The letter stated that there were a number of advertisements for
Internet gambling and offshore sportsbook operations. The Deputy
Attorney General expressed concern that some companies were falsely
suggesting to the public that such activities were legal. The
letter advised the NAB that “Internet gambling and offshore
sportsbook operations that accept bets from customers in the United
States violate Sections 1084, 1952, and 1955 of Title 18 of the
United States Code....”®> Noting that the DOJ reserved the right to
prosecute violators of the ‘law, the letter also stated in part:

Because of the possibility that some of your

organization’s members may be accepting money to place
such advertisements, the Department of Justice, as a

‘See Rec. Doc. No. 9.
See p. 5, Rec. Doc. No. 9. and Def.’s exhibit A, p. 1.
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public service, would like you to be aware that the
entities and individuals placing these advertisements may
be violating various state and federal laws, and that
entities and individuals that accept and run such
advertisements may be aiding and abetting these illegal
activities. Broadcasters and other medial outlets should
know of the illegality of offshore sportsbook and
Internet gambling operations since, presumably, they
would not run advertisements for illegal narcotics sales,
prostitution, child pornography or other prohibited
activities. We’d appreciate it if you would forward this
public service message to all of vyour member
organizations which may be running such advertisements,
so that they may consult with their counsel or take
whatever other actions they deem appropriate.®

More than a year after this letter was sent, the plaintiff
filed this suit. It is clear that the plaintiff has not received
a target letter from the DOJ advising the plaintiff that it was the
subject of a criminal investigation. While the DOJ has issued
subpoenas approximately one year before the suit was filed, the
plaintiff has not been served with any subpoena. The record is not
clear as to whether the plaintiff is even a member of the NAB. The
plaintiff continues to run advertisements on its website.

In 1961, Congress enacted 18 U.S.C. § 1084 (a), which is also
known as the Wire Act that prohibits anyone “engaged in the
business of betting and wagering” from:

knowingly us[ing] a wire communication facility for the

transmission in interstate or foreign commerce of bets or

wagers or information assisting in the placing of bets or
wagers or any sporting event or contest, or for the

transmission of a wire communication which entitles the
recipient to receive money or credit as a result of bets

61d.
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